

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

## DOI BSI List of Information Resources

This phase of work of the Department of the Interior (DOI) Federal Indian Boarding School Initiative (BSI) has focused on the identification and compilation of information resources.

### Contents

Federal Government Repositories.....	1
National Archives and Records Administration (NARA) .....	1
Smithsonian Institution .....	3
U.S. Army .....	4
U.S. Department of Education .....	4
U.S. Department of Interior .....	6
Bureau of Indian Affairs .....	9
Bureau of Indian Education .....	9
Bureau of Trust Funds Administration .....	9
National Park Service .....	9
U.S. Government Publishing Office (GPO).....	14
U.S. Federal Science Agencies .....	14
U.S. Library of Congress .....	15
Federal Reports .....	16
Non-Federal Archives, Museums, and Historical Society Repositories .....	16
State Archives, Museums, and Historical Societies.....	16
Tribal Archives and Museums, Organized by State.....	18
School-Specific Repositories, Organized by State.....	19
Regional and Other Local Archives, Museums, and Historical Societies, Organized by State.....	19
University Archives, Organized by State.....	20
Religious Archives, Organized by State .....	21
Books .....	21
Journal Articles and Theses Papers.....	29
Newspapers, Magazines, and Newsletters .....	35
Organizations .....	35

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

## Federal Government Repositories

### National Archives and Records Administration (NARA)

The National Archives holds historical U.S. government documents (federal, congressional, and presidential records) that are created or received by the President and his staff, by Congress, by employees of Federal government agencies, and by the Federal courts in the course of their official duties. The National Archives Catalog contains descriptions for NARA's nationwide holdings in the Washington, DC area; regional facilities; and Presidential Libraries. <https://catalog.archives.gov/>

- NARA Record Group 075 - Bureau of Indian Affairs

Record Group 075 is titled Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) but also includes records from the Bureau of Indian Education (formerly Office Indian Education Programs) and the Bureau of Trust Funds Administration (formerly the Office of the Special Trustee for American Indians). Records created under this record group document the U.S. Federal government's interaction with American Indians and Alaska Natives and are held in multiple NARA federal record center physical locations.

<https://www.archives.gov/findingaid/stat/discovery/75>

- NARA Archives 1 075 Holdings- Washington D.C.

Records held at Archives 1 provide a high-level overview of the Indian Affairs involvement in creating, maintaining, and supporting Native American boarding schools. For example, BIA reports, financial statements, circulars, and office files at Archives 1 can be useful for compiling a comprehensive list of boarding schools and understanding federal policy regarding boarding schools. Additional records (e.g., census records, correspondence, and student files) document the names and tribal affiliations of select boarding school students. Medical and hospital reports can provide insight into student deaths at boarding schools, although burial information for these students is limited. This guide is arranged alphabetically by subject.

<https://catalog.archives.gov/id/404>

- Additional NARA Collections

There are additional record groups including 107 (Records of the Office of the Secretary of War), 287 (Publications of the U.S. Government), 513 (Indian Health Service) and the Gerald R. Ford Presidential Library that may contain responsive information on Federal Indian Schools.

<https://www.archives.gov/findingaid/stat/discovery/107>

<https://www.archives.gov/findingaid/stat/discovery/287>

<https://www.archives.gov/findingaid/stat/discovery/513>

<https://www.fordlibrarymuseum.gov/index.aspx>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

- NARA Center for Legislative Records: Records of the U.S. Senate:
  - Records of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs (1820-1946, 1977-present)  
Records 1820-1946 (NARA physical repository):  
<https://www.archives.gov/legislative/guide/senate/chapter-12.html#CmtIndianAffairs>
    - Records include recurring Survey of Condition of the Indians in the United States (1929-1944)
  - Records of the Senate Committee on Appropriations  
Records 1867-present: <https://www.archives.gov/legislative/guide/senate/chapter-03.html>
  - Records of the Senate Subcommittee to Investigate Juvenile Delinquency, Under the Judiciary Committee (1953-1954).  
Records 1953-1954: <https://www.archives.gov/legislative/guide/senate/chapter-13.html#80th-90th>
- NARA Center for Legislative Records: Records of the U.S. House of Representatives:
  - Records of the House Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, Under the Committee on Public Lands (1946-1951)  
Records 1946-1951: <https://www.archives.gov/legislative/guide/house/chapter-13.html#CmtPublicLands1805>
  - Records of the House Subcommittee on Indian Affairs, Under the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs (1951-1968)  
Records 1951-1968: <https://www.archives.gov/legislative/guide/house/chapter-13.html#CmtInteriorInsularAffairs>
  - Records of the House Committee on Appropriations:  
Records 1865 to present:  
<https://catalog.archives.gov/id/10676854?organizationNaId=10458863>
  - Records of the House Select Committee on Children, Youth, and Families (1983-1993)  
Records 1983-1993:  
<https://catalog.archives.gov/id/85149452?organizationNaId=85149453>
  - Records of the House Subcommittee on Indigenous Peoples of the United States, Under the Committee on Natural Resources (2019-present)  
Records 2019-present:  
<https://catalog.archives.gov/id/10540565?organizationNaId=10484896>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

## Smithsonian Institution

The Smithsonian Institution is the world's largest museum, education, and research complex, with 21 museums including the National Museum of the American Indian. The Smithsonian's Online Virtual Archives contain personal papers, manuscripts, photographs, oral histories, films, works of art and organizational records. These online archives contain 466 separate collections responsive to a search for Indian Boarding Schools, while the physical archives include over 12,000 potentially relevant items: <https://www.si.edu/siasc>

Objects related to the boarding school era are also well-represented in the Smithsonian's physical collections: <https://www.si.edu/collections>

The Smithsonian Library System is the world's largest museum library system – serving the Smithsonian Institution, the American people, and the world.: <https://sirislibraries.si.edu/ipac20/ipac.jsp?profile=liball>

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available online through the Smithsonian include:

Bureau of Indian Affairs. Indians at Work (1933-1945): <https://library.si.edu/digital-library/book/indians-work>

Mills, J.E. 1960. Historic Sites Archeology in the Fort Randall Reservoir, South Dakota. Smithsonian Institution Bureau of Ethnology Bulletin 176, River Basin Surveys Papers, No. 16. [https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/22115/bae\\_bulletin\\_176\\_1960\\_16\\_25-48.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y](https://repository.si.edu/bitstream/handle/10088/22115/bae_bulletin_176_1960_16_25-48.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y)

United States Indian School. [No Date]. Our Heritage: Thlingets, Tsimpshans, Haidas. Ketchikan, Alaska. <https://library.si.edu/digital-library/book/ourheritage00unit>

- The National Museum of the American Indian (NMAI) Archive Center

The National Museum of the American Indian (NMAI) Archive Center actively acquires and serves as a repository for the records of contemporary Native American artists, writers, activists, and organizations. The museums digitized archives can be accessed through the Smithsonian's main portals, above.

The museum's collections contain photographs, correspondence, and objects related to Indian boarding schools.

<https://americanindian.si.edu/explore/collections/search>

An online exhibit of photographs and lesson plan related to boarding schools:

<https://americanindian.si.edu/nk360/code-talkers/boarding-schools/>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

## U.S. Army

The U.S. Army main resource is the U.S. Army Heritage and Education Center (USAHEC) which holds physical collections and is currently undertaking a large-scale digitization project including many manuscripts, photographs, audio-visual, artifact, and other collections including the Carlisle Barracks Collection and Carlisle Indian School: <https://arena.usahec.org/web/arena>.

Another source is the Office of Army Cemeteries, which includes information on burials associated with the Carlisle Indian School: <https://armycemeteries.army.mil/>

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available online through the U.S. Army websites include:

New South Associates and Environmental Research Group. 2017. Archival Research of the Carlisle Indian Cemetery. Army Corps of Engineers. <https://armycemeteries.army.mil/Portals/1/Documents/CarlisleBarracks/Archival%20Research%20Report%20-%20July%202017v2.pdf?ver=2019-06-07-121535-723>

Slavens, T.H. 1944. San Carlos, Arizona, in the Eighties. The Land of the Apaches. Order of Indian Wars. <https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/AD1117685.pdf>

## U.S. Department of Education

The Education Resources Information Center (ERIC) is an online library of education research and information, sponsored by the Institute of Education Sciences (IES) of the U.S. Department of Education.

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available online through ERIC include:

Commissioner of Education. 1920. A Survey of Education in Hawaii. Bureau of Education. Department of the Interior, Department of Education. Bulletin 1920, No. 6. Government Printing Office. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED543381.pdf>

Institute for Government Research. 1928. Meriam Report: The Problem of Indian Administration: Report of a Survey Made at the Request of Honorable Hubert Work, Secretary of the Interior, and Submitted to Him, February 21. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED087573.pdf>

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1968. BIA School Board Handbook, A Guide for Community Involvement in Educational Programs, Indian Education Resources Center. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED125819.pdf>

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1968. The American Indian Highschool Dropout: The Magnitude of the Problem. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED026164.pdf>

Mueller, W. 1969. The Cheyenne River Sioux Reservation, South Dakota. National Study of American Indian Education Community Background Reports Series 1 No. 6, Final Report. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED040793.pdf>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control—and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about—the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

U.S. Congress. 1969. Indian Education. Part 1, Hearings Before the Special Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States Senate, Ninetieth Congress, First and Second Sessions on the Study of the Education of Indian Children. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED055677.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1969. Indian Education. Part 2, Hearings Before the Special Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States Senate, Ninetieth Congress, First and Second Sessions on the Study of the Education of Indian Children. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED055678.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1969. Indian Education. Part 3, Hearings Before the Special Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States Senate, Ninetieth Congress, First and Second Sessions on the Study of the Education of Indian Children. <https://eric.ed.gov/?q=%22indian+education%22+hearing+subcommittee&pg=2&id=ED055679>

U.S. Congress. 1968. Indian Education. Part 4, Hearings Before the Special Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States Senate, Ninetieth Congress, First and Second Sessions on the Study of the Education of Indian Children. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED073859.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1969. Indian Education. Part 5, Hearings before the Special Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, U.S. Senate, 90th Congress, 1st and 2nd Sessions on the Study of the Education of Indian Children (Portland, Ore., May 24, 1968; Washington, D.C. Oct. 1, 1968). <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED089888.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1969. Part 1, Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, U.S. Senate, 91st Congress, 1st Session on Policy, Organization, Administration, and New Legislation Concerning the American Indians (Washington, D.C., Feb. 18,19,24, and Mar. 27, 1969; Fairbanks, Alaska, Apr 11, 1969). <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED089889.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1969. Indian Education, 1969. Part 2--Appendix. Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Indian Education of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare, United States Senate, Ninety-First Congress, First Session on Policy, Organization, Administration, and New Legislation Concerning the American Indians. <https://eric.ed.gov/?q=%22indian+education%22+hearing+subcommittee&pg=2&id=ED068209>

U.S. Congress, Senate Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. 1969. Indian Education: A National Tragedy—A National Challenge. Report of the Committee on Labor and Public Welfare. United States Senate Report 91501. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED034625.pdf>

Michener, B.P. 1970. Shonto Boarding School and Community, Shonto, Arizona. National Study of American Indian Education Community Background Reports Series 1 No. 9. U.S. Office of Education. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED040796.pdf>

Wesemann, R.E. 1970. Three Boarding Schools (Phoenix Indian School, Phoenix, Arizona; Theodore Roosevelt School, Fort Apache, Arizona; Chemawa Indian School, Salem, Oregon). National Study of American Indian Education Community Background Reports Series 1, No. 15, Final Report. U.S. Office of Education. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED042551.pdf>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1970. The First National Indian Workshop on School Affairs. Prepared for the National Indian Education Advisory Committee.  
<https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED041835.pdf>

Streiff, P.A. 1973. An Evaluation Project: the Pierre Indian School. Final report on Objective #1: Evaluation of the 1972-73 school program. Prepared and presented by the Pierre Indian School Evaluation Team; Pierre, S. D. Bureau of Indian Affairs.  
<https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED085154.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1976. Report on Indian Education: Final Report to the American Indian Policy Review Commission. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED190335.pdf>

NARA. 1981. Guide to Records in the National Archives of the United States Relating to American Indians. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED250136.pdf>

Schoepfle, M. 1982. Final Report: Ethnographic and Sociolinguistic Study of an Exemplary Bilingual Education Program on the Navajo Reservation: The Ethnography of a Navajo Educational Philosophy at Rock Point Community School.  
<https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED231563.pdf>

Nelson, M.F. and M.F. Walton. 1982. Ohoyo Ikhana: A Bibliography of American Indian-Alaska Native Curriculum Materials. Ohoyo Resource Center.  
<https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED227999.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1982. Closing of Off-Reservation Boarding Schools: Hearing Before the Select Committee on Indian Affairs; Washington: U.S. G.P.O.  
<https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED226882.pdf>

Department of Education. 1994. Directory of Native Education Resources in the Far West Region. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED371934.pdf>

U.S. Congress. 1995. Performance of Bureau of Indian Affairs Off-Reservation Boarding Schools. Washington: U.S. G.P.O. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED382428.pdf>

## U.S. Department of Interior

The DOI Interior Library collections include Departmental publications, as well as related books, journals, electronic databases and other resources that support the mission of the Department, its agencies, and bureaus. The library's own collections include some 200,000 current and historical publications. The library contains primary documents and books on Indian boarding schools.

<https://library.doi.gov/uhtbin/cgiirsi/?ps=KkaxahDg2r/x/X/60/495/X>

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available in hard copy form through the DOI Interior Library include:

Blauch, L.E. 1939. Educational Service for Indians. U.S. Government Printing Office.

Navajo Yearbook (1957-1961)

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1965. Report to the Senate Appropriations Committee on the Navajo Bordertown Dormitory Program by the Commissioner of Indian Affairs.

Bureau of Indian Affairs Day School. 1969. Kivalina History. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1970. Project ASSET: Accelerating Specialized School Experiences Today. Phoenix Indian High School.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1972. Project MESA. Wahpeton Indian School. BIA Instructional Service Center.

Indian Education Resources Center, Division of Evaluation and Program Review. 1973. Intermountain Evaluation Task Force: A Report; Albuquerque, N.M.

Bureau of Indian Affairs, Division of Evaluation, Research, and Development, 1975. Intermountain Boarding School: Information Update. Indian Education Resources Center.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1978. American Indian Tribes of Montana and Wyoming.

Bureau Indian Affairs School. 1991. History of the old Bureau of Indian Affairs School, Bethel, Alaska (constructed 1931).

Chilocco Indian Agricultural School. 1905. Catalogue of Real Navajo Blankets sold by the Indian Print Shop. Indian Print Shop.

Chilocco Indian Agricultural School. 1945. News and Views of Chilocco: for Field Agents, Superintendents, Students, Teachers.

Chilocco Indian Agricultural School. 1947. Meeting the Imperative Needs of Youth at the Chilocco Agricultural School.

Chilocco Indian School Special Program. 1953. Budget Stretchers. Materials Preparation Department, Intermountain School.

Chilocco Indian School Special Program. 1953. Campus Behavior. Materials Preparation Department, Intermountain School.

Chilocco Indian School Special Program. 1953. Homework for Homeworkers. Materials Preparation Department, Intermountain School.

Chilocco Indian School. The Indian School Journal.

Chilocco Indian School. 1979. Indian Curriculum Materials: A Resource Guide on Art, Math, Science, Indian Studies, Social Studies, Library science, Homemaking. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Genoa Indian Industrial School. 1930-1933. The Indian News: Genoa, Nebraska, Genoa Industrial School.

Indian Education Resources Center, Division of Program Review and Evaluation. 1972. Off Reservation Boarding School Project. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Indian Industrial and Agricultural School. Chilocco Farmer and Stock Grower.



The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

National Association on Indian Affairs. 1936. Navajo Child Health: The Problem of Tuberculosis and a Nation's Survival.

Mizen, M.L. U.S. 1962. Federal Facilities for Indians (1955-61). [For the] Senate Committee on Appropriations

Phoenix Indian School. 1958. The Sahuaro: A student's Handbook. Bureau of Indian Affairs.

Rapid City Indian School. 1915. Prospectus of the United States Indian Training School, Rapid City, South Dakota.

Rapid City Indian School. 1934. Minutes of the Plains Congress, March 2-5, 1934.

Salem Indian Training School. 1914-1915. The Chemewa American.

Senate Committee on Indian Affairs. (1929-1944). Survey of Condition of the Indians in the United States.

Seneca Boarding School. 1936. Shaker's Health Book. Office of Indian Affairs.

Staats, E.B. 1978. Bureau of Indian Affairs Not Operating Boarding Schools Efficiently. U.S. Governmental Accountability Office.

United States Congress. 1977. Indian Education: Hearings Before the Subcommittee on Elementary, Secondary and Vocational Education of the Committee on Education and Labor, House of Representatives, Ninety-fifth Congress, first session, hearings held in Washington, D.C., February 1, 2, 1977.

United States Indian School. The Carlisle Arrow. Carlisle, PA.

United States Indian School. 1914. Names of Graduates of the Carlisle Indian School. Carlisle Indian Press.

United States Indian School. 1915. Catalogue and Synopsis of Courses. Carlisle Indian Press.

United States Indian School. 1917. Carlisle 1917: Being a Presentation Done in Prose and Verse Together with Illustrations of the Various Activities of This United States Indian School Today. Carlisle Indian Press.

U.S. Indian School. 1936. Book of Haida Design, Prepared by Grades 5-7-8. U.S. Indian School at Hyدابurg.

United States Office of Education. 1888. Indian Education and Civilization. A Report Prepared in Answer to Senate Resolution of February 23, 1885. U.S. Government Publishing Office.

United States Office of Indian Affairs. 1898. Rules for the Indian School Service. U.S. Government Publishing Office.

United States Office of Indian Affairs. 1903. Statistics of Indian Tribes, Indian Agencies, and Indian Schools, Compiled to July 1, 1903. U.S. Government Publishing Office.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

United States Office of Indian Affairs. 1922. Course of Study for United States Indian Schools. U.S. Government Publishing Office.

United States Office of Indian Affairs. Indian Education (1937-1965)

United States Office of Indian Affairs. 1937-1953. Indian Service Summer Schools.

United States Office of Indian Affairs. 1942. Manual for the Indian School Service.

United States Oglala Indian Training School. 1900-1920. The Oglala Light.

## Bureau of Indian Affairs

The BIA is the oldest agency of the U.S. DOI. Established in 1824, it is responsible for the administration and management millions of acres of land held in trust by the U.S. for American Indians, Indian Tribes, and Alaska Natives. The BIA website provides access to press release information as early as 1953 to current.

<https://www.bia.gov/press-releases>

## Bureau of Indian Education

The BIE provides education services to approximately 42,000 Indian students. The BIE website provides a school directory of 183 Bureau-funded elementary and secondary schools of these, 53 are BIE-operated and 130 are tribally controlled. The BIE also directly operates 2 postsecondary institutions.

<https://www.bie.edu/schools/directory>

## Bureau of Trust Funds Administration

The BTFA oversees the American Indian Records Repository (AIRR) which contains retired Indian Affairs records from BIA agencies, BIE and BTFA offices all over the nation. Physical records include Indian trust, Indian Education and other historic Indian Affairs records. The AIRR provides authorized researchers, federal employees who are conducting the historical trust accounting, Tribes, and contractors secure access to inactive records for research.

<https://www.doi.gov/ost/office-trust-records>

## National Park Service

Authorized by the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, the NPS National Register of Historic Places (NRHP) is part of a national program to coordinate and support public and private efforts to identify, evaluate, and protect America's historic and archeological resources. The NRHP database documentation contains a registration form, which provides a physical description of the place, information about its history and significance, a bibliography, and photographs when available. *NRHP registration forms are a secondary source and the information they contain is not guaranteed to be reliable.*

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

National Park Gallery Digital Asset Search, which contains registration forms for historical places:  
<https://npgallery.nps.gov/nrhp>

Searchable list of properties listed on NRHP: <https://www.nps.gov/subjects/nationalregister/database-research.htm#table>

Specific sources for NPS NRHP documents related to Indian Boarding Schools include:

All Saints Historic District	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93205319">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93205319</a>
Armstrong Academy Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510742">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510742</a>
Bear Mountain Indian Mission School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41679555">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41679555</a>
Bloomfield Academy Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/f444bf6e-9441-481e-b4c4-e16ace78bc16">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/f444bf6e-9441-481e-b4c4-e16ace78bc16</a>
Brainerd Mission Cemetery	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/79002435">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/79002435</a>
Canton Asylum for American Indians Cemetery	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93205242">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93205242</a>
Carlisle Indian School	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=2c052dfd-9fde-4a7c-b23b-aab4b946f6fe">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=2c052dfd-9fde-4a7c-b23b-aab4b946f6fe</a>
Castillo de San Marcos National Monument	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=be95aed0-9fa9-4fb0-93dc-fb0475f6e761">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=be95aed0-9fa9-4fb0-93dc-fb0475f6e761</a>
Central Intermediate School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63815874">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63815874</a>
Chemawa Indian School Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/77850234">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/77850234</a>
Cherokee Female Seminary	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510874">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510874</a>
Chilocco Indian Agricultural School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511287">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511287</a>
Choctaw Indian Academy	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123851757">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123851757</a>
Christ Church Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325881">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325881</a>
Darlington Agency Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510774">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510774</a>
Dwight Mission	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73001570">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73001570</a>
First Mission House	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/1ac8ba36-815b-4b5f-9a95-e4374e888f1a">https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/1ac8ba36-815b-4b5f-9a95-e4374e888f1a</a>
Fort Apache Historic District	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75610362">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75610362</a>
Fort Shaw Historic District and Cemetery	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71975724">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71975724</a>
Fort Sill Indian School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510951">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510951</a>
Fort Simcoe State Park	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75613726">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75613726</a>
Fort Spokane Military Reserve	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75612833">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75612833</a>
Fort Totten Indian School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75326331">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75326331</a>
Fort Wingate Historic District and Fort Wingate Archeological Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/77847361">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/77847361</a>
Government Boarding School at Lac du Flambeau	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/5ef04aac-9d2a-4408-bfc4-12d2bcc539ec">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/5ef04aac-9d2a-4408-bfc4-12d2bcc539ec</a>
Government Indian School (Haines)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/262699fe-a0c2-4556-bb05-111312a99e82">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/262699fe-a0c2-4556-bb05-111312a99e82</a>

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

Hampton Institute, Hampton Normal and Industrial Institute	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41681119">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41681119</a>
Haskell Institute	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=53532b8b-4049-4b65-af4f-1c16c6ffe7c6">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=53532b8b-4049-4b65-af4f-1c16c6ffe7c6</a>
Hawaii SP Punahou School Campus, Punahou School Campus	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/136a17d6-2888-4bf3-ba66-133a99111d96">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/136a17d6-2888-4bf3-ba66-133a99111d96</a>
Holy Cross Abbey	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/f4855a04-b825-44af-a231-6f7241449317">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/f4855a04-b825-44af-a231-6f7241449317</a>
Holy Family Orphanage	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/15000701">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/15000701</a>
Hubbell Trading Post National Historic Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/60986441-76a9-47f1-b158-82b8dfe4da08">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/60986441-76a9-47f1-b158-82b8dfe4da08</a>
Indian Mission School (Nanticoke)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/780c0db3-74ba-43d9-8460-206cab489db4">https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/780c0db3-74ba-43d9-8460-206cab489db4</a>
Iowa Tribe Community Building (Iowa and Sac and Fox Boarding)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/2ff66d5a-1c91-422a-8c27-5cbcce8d2f32">https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/2ff66d5a-1c91-422a-8c27-5cbcce8d2f32</a>
Iowa, Sac, and Fox Presbyterian Mission (Iowa Sac and Fox Mission)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/4d211481-8dbe-4ac8-90be-765dca3c309f">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/4d211481-8dbe-4ac8-90be-765dca3c309f</a>
Jesse Lee Home for Children, AHR Site No. SEW-003	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/1dde0dd5-2f1a-4d13-88ba-8b7d45cc3df6">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/1dde0dd5-2f1a-4d13-88ba-8b7d45cc3df6</a>
Jubilee College (Homewood)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/28893845">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/28893845</a>
Kaw Indian Agency (Kaw Boarding School)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511248">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511248</a>
Koweta (Coweta) Mission Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86512312">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86512312</a>
Lemhi Boarding School Girls Dormitory; Lemhi, Idaho	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/2ecee02-0d43-4a5f-b986-be04ab2977e0">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/2ecee02-0d43-4a5f-b986-be04ab2977e0</a>
Levering Mission (Wetumka)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511206">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511206</a>
Lewis Ross/Cherokee Orphan Asylum Springhouse	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511450">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511450</a>
Lewis Ross/Cherokee Orphan Asylum Springhouse	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/ac09bfd7-0b02-4a63-a2b9-b1109b2d4c99">https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/ac09bfd7-0b02-4a63-a2b9-b1109b2d4c99</a>
Lincoln Creek Day School	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/aca9f82e-2db6-4219-a871-87807cd6eb28">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/aca9f82e-2db6-4219-a871-87807cd6eb28</a>
Lutheran Indian Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/106782519">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/106782519</a>
Martinez Historical District:	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123860489">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123860489</a>
Marty Indian School, Marty Mission School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93203531">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93203531</a>
Mayflower School, Douglas Community Center, AHR Site No. JUN-300	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325529">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325529</a>
Mekasukey Academy	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/b774eaf-cec9-4555-a05e-76c0beddd2a0/">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/b774eaf-cec9-4555-a05e-76c0beddd2a0/</a>
Mission House (Mackinac)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/25339968">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/25339968</a>
Modoc Mission Church and Cemetery	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/95c6e8de-9ef3-469d-ac4f-ba75814150f4">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/95c6e8de-9ef3-469d-ac4f-ba75814150f4</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Montana SP Holy Family Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71976042">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71976042</a>
Morris Industrial School for Indians Dormitory	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93203121">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93203121</a>
Mount Pleasant Downtown Historic District	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/798e08d3-89ad-45c2-b1d8-80618f13463d">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/798e08d3-89ad-45c2-b1d8-80618f13463d</a>
Navajo Mountain Day School and Community Center Historic District (NPS Resource # 10006063)	<a href="https://history.utah.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/PRES-UT_San-Juan-County_Navajo-Mountain-School-Pt-2.pdf">https://history.utah.gov/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/PRES-UT_San-Juan-County_Navajo-Mountain-School-Pt-2.pdf</a>
Nez Perce National Historical Park	<a href="http://npshistory.com/publications/nepe/spalding-area-hsr.pdf">http://npshistory.com/publications/nepe/spalding-area-hsr.pdf</a>
Nez Perce St. Joseph's Mission Site at Slickpool, Idaho	<a href="http://npshistory.com/brochures/nepe/st-josephs-mission.pdf">http://npshistory.com/brochures/nepe/st-josephs-mission.pdf</a>
Nuyaka Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511808">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511808</a>
Oklahoma Presbyterian College for Girls	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/13a98dfd-8c4a-489e-b934-888c1dc6a8fc">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/13a98dfd-8c4a-489e-b934-888c1dc6a8fc</a>
Old Kaw Mission	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/10af1426-d08f-4cd6-8c26-b4cd94f93290">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/10af1426-d08f-4cd6-8c26-b4cd94f93290</a>
Old Mission House (Dougherty)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/11000176">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/11000176</a>
Osage Mission Infirmary	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/0ddb91da-95e5-465e-86b5-b3a5b6727340">https://npgallery.nps.gov/GetAsset/0ddb91da-95e5-465e-86b5-b3a5b6727340</a>
Pawnee Agency and Boarding School Historic District and Pawnee Indian Agency	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511882">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511882</a>
Peoria Indian School, Peoria Thematic Resources	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/7803920c-cf1f-4d60-aadd-33e97ab099df">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/7803920c-cf1f-4d60-aadd-33e97ab099df</a>
Phoenix Indian School Historic District	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75610063">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75610063</a>
Pilgrim Congregational Church (Santee Normal)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/72000753">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/72000753</a>
Pinon Boarding School Dormitories	<a href="http://lweb2.loc.gov/master/pnp/habshaer/az/az0200/az0299/data/az0299data.pdf">http://lweb2.loc.gov/master/pnp/habshaer/az/az0200/az0299/data/az0299data.pdf</a>
Pipestone Indian School Superintendent's House	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93202528">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93202528</a>
Pottawatomie Indian Pay Station (St. Mary's Mission)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=64750cc2-9181-4b4c-9ba4-8b7c6e26c340">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=64750cc2-9181-4b4c-9ba4-8b7c6e26c340</a>
Ross Fork Episcopal Church (Good Shepherd)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/927edaa3-2785-4703-9026-ab10cbfd8d83">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/927edaa3-2785-4703-9026-ab10cbfd8d83</a>
Russian Bishop's House	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/66000025">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/66000025</a>
Sacred Heart Mission Site	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511986">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511986</a>
Sardis Presbyterian Church and Cemetery (Turnip Mountain Mission)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93208009">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/93208009</a>
Schoolhouse at Truxton Canyon Training School	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/bb2ebba4-7aa5-439c-9fb6-b1a6abfc822d">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/bb2ebba4-7aa5-439c-9fb6-b1a6abfc822d</a>
Shawnee (Methodist) Indian Mission State Historic Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=ce81b3c4-6a8d-4a30-a959-9652f07abf3c">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=ce81b3c4-6a8d-4a30-a959-9652f07abf3c</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Shawnee Friends Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511984">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86511984</a>
Sheldon Jackson School, Sheldon Jackson Museum (Sitka)	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325764">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325764</a>
Sherman Indian High School, Administration Building, Sherman Institute	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123860429">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/123860429</a>
Shoshone-Episcopal Mission	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/73730319">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/73730319</a>
Sitka's National Historic Landmarks	<a href="http://www.npshistory.com/publications/sitk/nhl.pdf">http://www.npshistory.com/publications/sitk/nhl.pdf</a>
Spencer Academy	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510898">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510898</a>
St. Anne's Church and Mission Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73000141">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73000141</a>
St. Christopher's Episcopal Mission	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/NRHP/02001042_text">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/GetAsset/NRHP/02001042_text</a>
St. Ignatius Mission	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73001053">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/73001053</a>
St. Joseph Indian Normal School	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/440a900f-e81c-4cd7-a0cd-fdad774330a/">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/440a900f-e81c-4cd7-a0cd-fdad774330a/</a>
St. Joseph's Mission (Slickpoo)	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/7a293a82-3380-4b10-b628-f20f949523e6">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/7a293a82-3380-4b10-b628-f20f949523e6</a>
St. Peter's Mission Church and Cemetery	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/84002452">https://npgallery.nps.gov/AssetDetail/NRIS/84002452</a>
St. Stanislaus Seminary	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63820390">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63820390</a>
Stewart Indian School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63816340">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/63816340</a>
The Trail of Tears National Historic Trail	<a href="https://www.nps.gov/trte/learn/management/upload/TRTE%20CHMU%20HSR-CLR.pdf">https://www.nps.gov/trte/learn/management/upload/TRTE%20CHMU%20HSR-CLR.pdf</a>
Thomas Indian School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75317719">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75317719</a>
Unalakleet School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325686">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/75325686</a>
Union Mission Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/c72850a7-109f-4e68-b40c-1f116f7b114a">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail/c72850a7-109f-4e68-b40c-1f116f7b114a</a>
Virginia Sharon Indian School	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41681436">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/41681436</a>
Wapanucka Academy Site	<a href="https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=5c92b8a8-1303-4fd9-84fe-7a6679744076">https://npgallery.nps.gov/NRHP/AssetDetail?assetID=5c92b8a8-1303-4fd9-84fe-7a6679744076</a>
Wheelock Academy	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510629">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/86510629</a>
Wyandot Mission Church	<a href="https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71992082">https://catalog.archives.gov/id/71992082</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

## U.S. Government Publishing Office (GPO)

The GPO is a Federal legislative branch agency established in 1861. GPO's mission is rooted in legislation codified in Title 44 U.S.C. and is keeping America informed as the official, digital, and secure source for producing, protecting, preserving, and distributing the official publications and information products of the Federal Government. By law (U.S.C. Title 44, Sections 1710 and 1711) GPO aims to provide a comprehensive index of every document issued or published by a department, bureau, or office not confidential in character.

GPO administers this program and provides public access to this index through the online bibliographic records contained in the Catalog of U.S. Government Publications (CGP). Relevant documents include those pertaining to the U.S. Senate and House, Committee on Indian Affairs, and Committee on Appropriations.

Catalog of U.S. Government Publications: <https://catalog.gpo.gov/F?RN=8227467>

MetaLib a service of the Catalog of U.S. Government Publications (CGP). MetaLib is a federated search engine that searches multiple U.S. Federal government databases, retrieving reports, articles, and citations while providing direct links to selected resources available online:

<https://metalib.gpo.gov/V/4AS5LMVNVQBF759D3U6N2SCBDPYE3X9HFX988VA8UTX6BPPR6S-03252?func=quick-1&mode=simple>

Govinfo provides free public access to official publications from all three branches of the Federal Government using an advanced metadata-powered content management system and a standards-compliant preservation repository: <https://www.govinfo.gov/>

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available online through govinfo include:

Records of the Senate Committee on Indian Affairs 1945 to present:

<https://www.govinfo.gov/app/collection/chrg>

[https://www.govinfo.gov/committee/senate-](https://www.govinfo.gov/committee/senate-indianaffairs?path=/browsecommittee/chamber/senate/committee/indianaffairs/collection/CHRG)

[indianaffairs?path=/browsecommittee/chamber/senate/committee/indianaffairs/collection/CHRG](https://www.govinfo.gov/committee/senate-indianaffairs?path=/browsecommittee/chamber/senate/committee/indianaffairs/collection/CHRG)

## U.S. Federal Science Agencies

Science.gov is a gateway to U.S. government science information. The portal offers free access to research and development (R&D) results and scientific and technical information from scientific organizations across 13 federal agencies. Science.gov makes it possible for users to search over 60 databases, over 2,200 websites, and over 200 million pages of authoritative federal science information in many formats, including full-text documents, citations, scientific data supporting federally funded research, and multimedia.

<https://www.science.gov/>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

## U.S. Library of Congress

The Library of Congress is the largest library in the world, with millions of books, recordings, photographs, newspapers, maps and manuscripts in its collections. The library is the main research arm of the U.S. Congress and the home of the U.S. Copyright Office. The library preserves and provides access to a rich, diverse and enduring source of knowledge to inform, inspire and engage you in your intellectual and creative endeavors. <https://www.loc.gov/>

Library of Congress Chronicling America Newspaper Navigator: <https://news-navigator.labs.loc.gov/search>

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available at the Library of Congress include:

Interior Missouri Basin Field Committee. 1954. Missouri River Basin Progress Report. U.S. Department of the Interior.

Joint Commission to Investigate Indian Affairs. 1914. Hearings Before the Joint Commission of the Congress of the United States, Sixty-Third Congress. Washington: GPO.

Office of Indian Affairs. 1932. Indian Schools and Education.

U.S. Congress. 1953. Report with Respect to the House Resolution Authorizing the Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs to Conduct an Investigation of the Bureau of Indian Affairs.

U.S. Department of Justice. 1954. Educational Institutions Approved by the Attorney General.

Specific sources related to Indian Boarding Schools available online through the Library of Congress include:

Bureau of Indian Affairs, 1962. Housekeeping in Boarding and Day Schools. Branch of Education. <https://tile.loc.gov/storage-services/public/gdcmassbookdig/housekeepinginbo00unit/housekeepinginbo00unit.pdf>

Morse, J. 1822. A Report to The Secretary of War of The United States, On Indian Affairs, Comprising a Narrative of a Tour Performed in The Summer of 1820, Under a Commission from The President of the United States, for the Purpose of Ascertaining, for The Use of The Government, the Actual State of the Indian Tribes In Our Country. [https://www.loc.gov/resource/gdcmassbookdig.reporttosecretar00mors\\_0/?sp=5&st=text](https://www.loc.gov/resource/gdcmassbookdig.reporttosecretar00mors_0/?sp=5&st=text)

National Park Service. 2011. Fairview Cemetery, Written Historic and Descriptive Data, Historic American Landscape Survey. <http://lweb2.loc.gov/master/pnp/habshaer/nm/nm0300/nm0323/data/nm0323data.pdf>

United States Oglala Indian Training School. The Oglala Light (1900-1920): <https://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/2017270500/issues/>



The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

## Federal Reports

The following types of Federal reports also contain historical boarding school information. The larger Federal repositories can assist with access to these types of reports, including the National Archives Records Administration and the Department of the Interior Library. See links to these main repositories above.

Annual Reports	<p>The Commissioner of the Office of Indian Affairs to the Secretary of the Interior</p> <p>The Secretary of the Interior</p> <p>Indian Territory Reports (Reports of the United States Indian Inspector for the Indian Territory to the Secretary of the Interior)</p> <p>The Commissioner of Education</p> <p>The Superintendent of Indian Schools to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs</p> <p>The Department of the Interior for fiscal year X</p> <p>Annual Reports of the Board of Directors of the Indian Rights Association</p>
Other recurring reports	<p>Routes to Indian Schools (Dept of Interior)</p> <p>The Abridgment: Containing the Annual Message of the President of the United States to the Two Houses of Congress</p> <p>Statistics Concerning Indian Education fiscal year X</p> <p>Indian Claims Commission Decisions</p>
Other specific reports	<p>Department of War. 1827. Documents from the War Department Accompanying the President's Message to Congress Part II.</p> <p>U.S. Department of Health, Education, and Welfare. 1966. Directory of Public Training Schools Service Delinquent Children, 1966.</p> <p>Bureau of Indian Affairs. Construction Projects, FY 1980.</p>

## Non-Federal Archives, Museums, and Historical Society Repositories

### State Archives, Museums, and Historical Societies

Alabama	Alabama Department of Archives and History: <a href="https://archives.alabama.gov/">https://archives.alabama.gov/</a>
Alaska	Alaska State Archives: <a href="https://archives.alaska.gov/">https://archives.alaska.gov/</a> Alaska Historical Society: <a href="https://alaskahistoricalsociety.org/">https://alaskahistoricalsociety.org/</a>
Arizona	Arizona State Library, Archives, and Public Records: <a href="https://azlibrary.gov/">https://azlibrary.gov/</a> Arizona Historical Society: <a href="https://arizonahistoricalsociety.org/">https://arizonahistoricalsociety.org/</a> Colorado River Historical Society: <a href="https://coloradoriverhistoricalsociety.org/">https://coloradoriverhistoricalsociety.org/</a>
Arkansas	Arkansas State Archives: <a href="https://www.arkansasheritage.com/arkansasstatearchives/home">https://www.arkansasheritage.com/arkansasstatearchives/home</a> Arkansas Historical Association: <a href="http://arkansashistoricalassociation.org/">http://arkansashistoricalassociation.org/</a>
California	California State Archives: <a href="https://www.sos.ca.gov/archives">https://www.sos.ca.gov/archives</a> California Historical Society: <a href="https://californiahistoricalsociety.org/">https://californiahistoricalsociety.org/</a> California Office of Historic Preservation <a href="https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/">https://ohp.parks.ca.gov/</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Colorado	Colorado State Archives: <a href="https://archives.colorado.gov/">https://archives.colorado.gov/</a> History Colorado: <a href="https://www.historycolorado.org/">https://www.historycolorado.org/</a>
Connecticut	Connecticut State Archives: <a href="https://ctstatelibrary.org/state-archives/">https://ctstatelibrary.org/state-archives/</a>
Delaware	Delaware Public Archives: <a href="https://archives.delaware.gov/">https://archives.delaware.gov/</a> Delaware Historical Society: <a href="https://dehistory.org/">https://dehistory.org/</a>
Florida	State Archives of Florida: <a href="https://dos.myflorida.com/library-archives/archives/">https://dos.myflorida.com/library-archives/archives/</a> Florida Historical Society: <a href="https://myfloridahistory.org/">https://myfloridahistory.org/</a>
Georgia	Georgia Archives: <a href="https://www.georgiaarchives.org/">https://www.georgiaarchives.org/</a> Georgia Historical Society: <a href="https://georgiahistory.com/">https://georgiahistory.com/</a>
Hawaii	Hawaii State Archives: <a href="https://ags.hawaii.gov/archives/about-us/archives-research/">https://ags.hawaii.gov/archives/about-us/archives-research/</a> Hawaii Historical Society: <a href="https://www.hawaiianhistory.org/">https://www.hawaiianhistory.org/</a>
Idaho	Idaho State Archives: <a href="https://history.idaho.gov/archives/">https://history.idaho.gov/archives/</a> Idaho State Historical Society: <a href="https://history.idaho.gov/">https://history.idaho.gov/</a>
Illinois	Illinois State Archives: <a href="https://www.ilsos.gov/departments/archives/home.html">https://www.ilsos.gov/departments/archives/home.html</a> Illinois Historic Preservation Agency: <a href="https://www2.illinois.gov/dnrhistoric/Pages/default.aspx">https://www2.illinois.gov/dnrhistoric/Pages/default.aspx</a>
Indiana	Indiana Archives and Records Administration: <a href="https://www.in.gov/iara/">https://www.in.gov/iara/</a> Indiana Historical Society: <a href="https://indianahistory.org/">https://indianahistory.org/</a>
Iowa	Iowa State Historical Society: <a href="https://iowaculture.gov/history/research/collections/state-archives">https://iowaculture.gov/history/research/collections/state-archives</a>
Kansas	Kansas Historical Society: <a href="https://www.kshs.org/p/state-archives-library/11933">https://www.kshs.org/p/state-archives-library/11933</a>
Kentucky	Kentucky Department for Libraries and Archives: <a href="https://kdla.ky.gov/pages/index.aspx">https://kdla.ky.gov/pages/index.aspx</a> Kentucky Historical Society: <a href="https://history.ky.gov/">https://history.ky.gov/</a>
Louisiana	Louisiana State Archives: <a href="https://www.sos.la.gov/HistoricalResources/LearnAboutTheArchives/Pages/default.aspx">https://www.sos.la.gov/HistoricalResources/LearnAboutTheArchives/Pages/default.aspx</a> Louisiana Historical Society: <a href="https://louisianahistoricalsociety.org/">https://louisianahistoricalsociety.org/</a>
Maine	Maine State Archives: <a href="https://www.maine.gov/sos/arc/">https://www.maine.gov/sos/arc/</a>
Maryland	Maryland State Archives: <a href="https://msa.maryland.gov/">https://msa.maryland.gov/</a>
Massachusetts	Massachusetts Archive Division: <a href="https://www.sec.state.ma.us/arc/">https://www.sec.state.ma.us/arc/</a> Massachusetts Historical Society: <a href="https://www.masshist.org/">https://www.masshist.org/</a>
Michigan	Michigan History Center Archives: <a href="https://www.michigan.gov/mhc/archives">https://www.michigan.gov/mhc/archives</a> Historical Society of Michigan: <a href="https://www.hsmichigan.org/">https://www.hsmichigan.org/</a>
Minnesota	Minnesota Historical Society Archives: <a href="https://www.mnhs.org/preserve/records/index.php">https://www.mnhs.org/preserve/records/index.php</a> Minnesota Digital Library: <a href="https://mndigital.org/">https://mndigital.org/</a>
Mississippi	Mississippi Department of Archives and History: <a href="https://www.mdah.ms.gov/">https://www.mdah.ms.gov/</a> Mississippi Historical Society: <a href="https://www.mississippihistory.org/">https://www.mississippihistory.org/</a>
Missouri	Missouri State Archives: <a href="https://www.sos.mo.gov/archives/">https://www.sos.mo.gov/archives/</a> State Historical Society of Missouri: <a href="https://shsmo.org/">https://shsmo.org/</a>
Montana	Montana Historical Society: <a href="https://mhs.mt.gov/">https://mhs.mt.gov/</a> Montana Office of Public Instruction: <a href="https://opi.mt.gov/">https://opi.mt.gov/</a>
Nebraska	History Nebraska: <a href="https://history.nebraska.gov/collections/">https://history.nebraska.gov/collections/</a>
Nevada	Nevada State Library, Archives, and Public Records: <a href="https://nsla.nv.gov/home">https://nsla.nv.gov/home</a>
New Hampshire	New Hampshire Archives and Vital Records: <a href="https://sos.nh.gov/archives-vital-records-records-management/archives/archives-vital-records-records-management-divisions/">https://sos.nh.gov/archives-vital-records-records-management/archives/archives-vital-records-records-management-divisions/</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

New Jersey	New Jersey State Archives: <a href="https://www.nj.gov/state/archives/index.html">https://www.nj.gov/state/archives/index.html</a>
New Mexico	New Mexico State Records and Archives: <a href="https://www.srca.nm.gov/">https://www.srca.nm.gov/</a> New Mexico Archives Online: <a href="https://nmarchives.unm.edu/">https://nmarchives.unm.edu/</a>
New York	New York State Archives: <a href="http://www.archives.nysed.gov/">http://www.archives.nysed.gov/</a>
North Carolina	State Archives of North Carolina: <a href="https://archives.ncdcr.gov/">https://archives.ncdcr.gov/</a>
North Dakota	State Historical Society of North Dakota: <a href="https://www.history.nd.gov/archives/">https://www.history.nd.gov/archives/</a>
Ohio	Ohio Archives and Library: <a href="https://www.ohiohistory.org/research/archives-library/">https://www.ohiohistory.org/research/archives-library/</a>
Oklahoma	Oklahoma State Archives and Records: <a href="https://oklahoma.gov/libraries/state-government/archives-and-records/state-archives.html">https://oklahoma.gov/libraries/state-government/archives-and-records/state-archives.html</a> Oklahoma Historical Society: <a href="https://www.okhistory.org/">https://www.okhistory.org/</a> Oklahoma Department of Libraries: <a href="https://digitalprairieok.net/">https://digitalprairieok.net/</a>
Oregon	Oregon Historic Sites Database: <a href="https://heritagedata.prd.state.or.us/historic/">https://heritagedata.prd.state.or.us/historic/</a> Oregon Historical Society: <a href="https://www.ohs.org/">https://www.ohs.org/</a> Oregon State Archives: <a href="https://sos.oregon.gov/archives/pages/default.aspx">https://sos.oregon.gov/archives/pages/default.aspx</a>
Pennsylvania	Pennsylvania State Archives: <a href="https://www.phmc.pa.gov/archives/pages/default.aspx">https://www.phmc.pa.gov/archives/pages/default.aspx</a> Historical Society of Pennsylvania: <a href="https://www.portal.hsp.org/">https://www.portal.hsp.org/</a> State Library of Pennsylvania: <a href="https://www.statelibrary.pa.gov/Pages/default.aspx">https://www.statelibrary.pa.gov/Pages/default.aspx</a>
Rhode Island	Rhode Island State Archives: <a href="https://www.sos.ri.gov/divisions/state-archives">https://www.sos.ri.gov/divisions/state-archives</a>
South Carolina	South Carolina Department of Archives and History: <a href="https://scdah.sc.gov/">https://scdah.sc.gov/</a>
South Dakota	South Dakota State Archives: <a href="https://history.sd.gov/archives/">https://history.sd.gov/archives/</a> South Dakota State Historical Society: <a href="https://history.sd.gov/">https://history.sd.gov/</a>
Tennessee	Tennessee State Library and Archives: <a href="https://sos.tn.gov/tsla">https://sos.tn.gov/tsla</a>
Texas	Texas State Library and Archives Commission: <a href="https://www.tsl.texas.gov/">https://www.tsl.texas.gov/</a>
Vermont	Vermont State Archives and Records Administration: <a href="https://sos.vermont.gov/vsara/">https://sos.vermont.gov/vsara/</a>
Virginia	Library of Virginia: <a href="https://www.lva.virginia.gov/">https://www.lva.virginia.gov/</a>
Washington	Washington State Archives: <a href="https://www.digitalarchives.wa.gov/">https://www.digitalarchives.wa.gov/</a> Washington State Historical Society: <a href="https://www.washingtonhistory.org/">https://www.washingtonhistory.org/</a>
West Virginia	West Virginia Archives and History: <a href="https://wvculture.org/agencies/archives-and-history/">https://wvculture.org/agencies/archives-and-history/</a>
Wisconsin	Wisconsin Historical Society: <a href="https://www.wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS2096">https://www.wisconsinhistory.org/Records/Article/CS2096</a>
Wyoming	Wyoming State Archives: <a href="https://wyoarchives.wyo.gov/">https://wyoarchives.wyo.gov/</a> Wyoming State Historic Preservation Office: <a href="https://wyoshpo.wyo.gov/">https://wyoshpo.wyo.gov/</a> Wyoming State Library: <a href="https://library.wyo.gov/">https://library.wyo.gov/</a> Wyoming Historical Society: <a href="https://wyshs.org/">https://wyshs.org/</a>

## Tribal Archives and Museums, Organized by State

California	Malki Museum: <a href="http://malkimuseum.org/">http://malkimuseum.org/</a>
Michigan	Ziibiwing Center of Anishinabe Culture and Lifeways: <a href="http://www.sagchip.org/ziibiwing/">http://www.sagchip.org/ziibiwing/</a>
New Mexico	Indian Pueblo Cultural Center: <a href="https://indianpueblo.org/">https://indianpueblo.org/</a>
Oklahoma	Chickasaw Historical Society: <a href="https://www.chickasaw.net/services/chickasaw-historical-society.aspx">https://www.chickasaw.net/services/chickasaw-historical-society.aspx</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

---

Washington	Hibulb Cultural Center and Natural History Preserve: <a href="https://www.hibulbculturalcenter.org/">https://www.hibulbculturalcenter.org/</a>
------------	---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

---

## School-Specific Repositories, Organized by State

---

Hawaii	Kamehama Schools Archives: <a href="https://www.ksbe.edu/archives/collections/">https://www.ksbe.edu/archives/collections/</a>
Kansas	Haskell Cultural Center and Museum: Museum Collections and Archives: <a href="https://www.haskell.edu/cultural-center/collections-archives/">https://www.haskell.edu/cultural-center/collections-archives/</a>
Montana	St. Labre School Archives: <a href="https://sites.google.com/stlabre.org/stlabreindianschool/slhs-newspaper-archives">https://sites.google.com/stlabre.org/stlabreindianschool/slhs-newspaper-archives</a> <a href="https://sites.google.com/stlabre.org/stlabreindianschool/slhs-yearbook-archive">https://sites.google.com/stlabre.org/stlabreindianschool/slhs-yearbook-archive</a>
Nebraska	Genoa Indian School Museum: <a href="https://genoaindianschoolmuseum.org/">https://genoaindianschoolmuseum.org/</a>
Nevada	Stewart Indian School Cultural Center and Museum: <a href="https://stewartindianschool.com/">https://stewartindianschool.com/</a>
Oregon	Forest Grove Indian School: <a href="https://heritage.lib.pacificu.edu/s/indian-school/page/welcome">https://heritage.lib.pacificu.edu/s/indian-school/page/welcome</a>
Pennsylvania	Carlisle Indian School Digital Resource Center: <a href="https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/">https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/</a>
South Dakota	Red Cloud Indian School: <a href="https://www.redcloudschool.org/page.aspx?pid=475">https://www.redcloudschool.org/page.aspx?pid=475</a>
Virginia	Hampton University Archives: <a href="http://hamptonarchives.org">http://hamptonarchives.org</a>

---

## Regional and Other Local Archives, Museums, and Historical Societies, Organized by State

---

Alaska	Anchorage Museum: <a href="https://www.anchoragemuseum.org/collections/access-research/">https://www.anchoragemuseum.org/collections/access-research/</a> Seward Historic Preservation Commission: <a href="https://web.archive.org/web/20110608222713/http://www.cityofseward.net/hpc/index.html">https://web.archive.org/web/20110608222713/http://www.cityofseward.net/hpc/index.html</a> Palmer Museum of History and Art: <a href="https://www.mvhphotoproject.org/">https://www.mvhphotoproject.org/</a>
Arizona	Museum of Northern Arizona: <a href="https://musnaz.org/">https://musnaz.org/</a>
California	Autry Museum of the American West: <a href="https://theautry.org/">https://theautry.org/</a> Sherman Indian Museum: <a href="http://www.shermanindianmuseum.org/">http://www.shermanindianmuseum.org/</a> The Huntington: <a href="https://huntington.org/">https://huntington.org/</a>
Colorado	Denver Public Library Digital Collections: <a href="https://digital.denverlibrary.org/">https://digital.denverlibrary.org/</a>
Florida	St. Augustine Historical Society: <a href="https://staugh.com/about/">https://staugh.com/about/</a>
Hawaii	Lyman Museum and Mission House: <a href="https://lymanmuseum.org/archives/research-collection/">https://lymanmuseum.org/archives/research-collection/</a>
Idaho	Nez Perce County Historical Society and Museum: <a href="https://www.nezpercecountymuseum.com/">https://www.nezpercecountymuseum.com/</a>
Maine	Maine Local Historical Societies: <a href="https://www.maine.gov/sos/arc/organizations/histsoc.html">https://www.maine.gov/sos/arc/organizations/histsoc.html</a>
Maryland	Maryland Local Historical Societies: <a href="https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/mdmanual/01glance/html/museumsh.html">https://msa.maryland.gov/msa/mdmanual/01glance/html/museumsh.html</a>
Minnesota	Murray County Historical Society: <a href="https://murraycountyhistoricalsociety.org/">https://murraycountyhistoricalsociety.org/</a>
New Mexico	Historic Santa Fe Foundation: <a href="https://www.historicsantafe.org/">https://www.historicsantafe.org/</a>

---

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Oklahoma	Gilcrease Museum: <a href="https://gilcrease.org/">https://gilcrease.org/</a> Cherokee Strip Museum and Historical Society: <a href="http://www.cherokee-strip-museum.org/index.html">http://www.cherokee-strip-museum.org/index.html</a>
Oregon	Klamath County Historical Society: <a href="https://klamathcountyhistoricalsociety.org/">https://klamathcountyhistoricalsociety.org/</a> Five Oaks Museum: <a href="https://fiveoaksmuseum.org/">https://fiveoaksmuseum.org/</a> Washington County Historical Society: <a href="https://washingtoncountyheritage.org/s/wcho/page/home">https://washingtoncountyheritage.org/s/wcho/page/home</a>
Pennsylvania	Cumberland County Historical Society: <a href="https://www.historicalsociety.com/">https://www.historicalsociety.com/</a>
Utah	San Juan County Historical Society: <a href="http://sanjuan.pastperfectonline.com/">http://sanjuan.pastperfectonline.com/</a>
Washington	Yakima Valley Museum and Archives: <a href="https://www.yvmuseum.org/">https://www.yvmuseum.org/</a> , Yakima Memory: <a href="https://archives.yvl.org/">https://archives.yvl.org/</a>

### University Archives, Organized by State

California	University of California “Calisphere”: <a href="https://calisphere.org/">https://calisphere.org/</a> Online Archive of California: <a href="https://oac.cdlib.org/">https://oac.cdlib.org/</a> University of Southern California Digital Library: <a href="https://digitallibrary.usc.edu/">https://digitallibrary.usc.edu/</a>
Colorado	University of Colorado Archives Digital Collections: <a href="https://archives.colorado.edu/">https://archives.colorado.edu/</a> Center of Southwest Studies, Fort Lewis College: <a href="https://swcenter.fortlewis.edu/">https://swcenter.fortlewis.edu/</a>
Connecticut	Yale University Libraries: <a href="https://findit.library.yale.edu/">https://findit.library.yale.edu/</a>
Florida	Columbus State Archives and Special Collections: <a href="https://www.columbusstate.edu/archives/index.php">https://www.columbusstate.edu/archives/index.php</a> Florida Museum: <a href="https://www.floridamuseum.ufl.edu/">https://www.floridamuseum.ufl.edu/</a>
Georgia	Columbus State Archives and Special Collections: <a href="https://www.columbusstate.edu/archives/">https://www.columbusstate.edu/archives/</a> New Georgia Encyclopedia, University of Georgia: <a href="https://www.georgiaencyclopedia.org/">https://www.georgiaencyclopedia.org/</a>
Hawaii	Punawaiola: <a href="http://punawaiola.org/index.html">http://punawaiola.org/index.html</a>
Kansas	Wichita State University Archives and Special Collections: <a href="https://libraries.wichita.edu/sc/home">https://libraries.wichita.edu/sc/home</a> University of Kansas Archival Collections: <a href="https://libraries.wichita.edu/sc/home">https://libraries.wichita.edu/sc/home</a>
Massachusetts	Harvard Digital Collections: <a href="https://library.harvard.edu/digital-collections">https://library.harvard.edu/digital-collections</a> Harvard Hollis Archives: <a href="https://hollisarchives.lib.harvard.edu/">https://hollisarchives.lib.harvard.edu/</a> Boston College Libraries: <a href="https://library.bc.edu/">https://library.bc.edu/</a> Boston College Jesuit Online Library: <a href="https://jesuitonlinelibrary.bc.edu">https://jesuitonlinelibrary.bc.edu</a> Assumption University: <a href="https://digitalcommons.assumption.edu/">https://digitalcommons.assumption.edu/</a>
Michigan	Central Michigan University: <a href="https://scholarly.cmich.edu/">https://scholarly.cmich.edu/</a> Calvin University: <a href="https://library.calvin.edu/">https://library.calvin.edu/</a>
Minnesota	College of Saint Benedict/Saint John’s University Library: <a href="https://csbsjulib.omeka.net/">https://csbsjulib.omeka.net/</a>
Mississippi	Mississippi Encyclopedia: <a href="https://mississippiencyclopedia.org/">https://mississippiencyclopedia.org/</a>
New York	Columbia University: <a href="https://library.columbia.edu/libraries/burke.html">https://library.columbia.edu/libraries/burke.html</a> Cornell University Library: <a href="https://www.library.cornell.edu/">https://www.library.cornell.edu/</a> Manhattan College: <a href="https://archivesspace.manhattan.edu/">https://archivesspace.manhattan.edu/</a>
North Carolina	Western Carolina University Digital Collections: <a href="https://www.wcu.edu/hunter-library/find/digital-collections.aspx">https://www.wcu.edu/hunter-library/find/digital-collections.aspx</a>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

North Dakota	North Dakota State University Special Collections: <a href="https://library.ndsu.edu/AS2.pub/repositories">https://library.ndsu.edu/AS2.pub/repositories</a>
Oklahoma	University of Oklahoma College of Law Digital Commons: <a href="https://digitalcommons.law.ou.edu/">https://digitalcommons.law.ou.edu/</a> <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>American Indian and Alaska Native Documents in the Congressional Serial Set: 1817-1899: <a href="https://digitalcommons.law.ou.edu/indianserialset/">https://digitalcommons.law.ou.edu/indianserialset/</a></li> </ul> University of Oklahoma Libraries: <a href="https://libraries.ou.edu/frontpage">https://libraries.ou.edu/frontpage</a> University of Tulsa Archival Catalog: <a href="https://utulsa.as.atlas-sys.com/">https://utulsa.as.atlas-sys.com/</a> Oklahoma State Digital Collections: <a href="https://library.okstate.edu/search-and-find/collections/digital-collections/">https://library.okstate.edu/search-and-find/collections/digital-collections/</a>
Oregon	Pacific University Washington County Heritage Online: <a href="https://heritage.lib.pacificu.edu/s/wcho/page/home">https://heritage.lib.pacificu.edu/s/wcho/page/home</a> Willamette University Archives: <a href="https://library.willamette.edu/archives/">https://library.willamette.edu/archives/</a> Oregon Institute of Technology Historical Library: <a href="https://www.oit.edu/shaw">https://www.oit.edu/shaw</a>
Pennsylvania	Dickenson College Carlisle Indian School Digital Resource Center: <a href="https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/">https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/</a>
Utah	Utah State University Digital History Collections: <a href="https://digital.lib.usu.edu/">https://digital.lib.usu.edu/</a> and Archives: <a href="https://library.usu.edu/archives/">https://library.usu.edu/archives/</a> University of Utah Digital Library: <a href="https://collections.lib.utah.edu/">https://collections.lib.utah.edu/</a>
Virginia	Hampton University Archives: <a href="http://hamptonarchives.org">http://hamptonarchives.org</a>
Washington	University of Washington Digital Collections: <a href="https://content.lib.washington.edu/">https://content.lib.washington.edu/</a> Washington State University Archives: <a href="https://libraries.wsu.edu/masc/">https://libraries.wsu.edu/masc/</a>
Wisconsin	University of Wisconsin-Madison Digital Collection: <a href="https://search.library.wisc.edu/search/digital">https://search.library.wisc.edu/search/digital</a>

## Religious Archives, Organized by State

National	Jesuit Archives: <a href="https://jesuitarchives.org/">https://jesuitarchives.org/</a> Presbyterian Historical Society: <a href="https://digital.history.pcusa.org/">https://digital.history.pcusa.org/</a> United Methodist Church Archives and History: <a href="http://gcah.org/">http://gcah.org/</a> Bureau of Catholic Indian Missions records in the Marquette University Archives: <a href="https://www.marquette.edu/library/archives/Mss/BCIM/">https://www.marquette.edu/library/archives/Mss/BCIM/</a> Presbyterian Historical Society: <a href="https://www.history.pcusa.org/">https://www.history.pcusa.org/</a>
Florida	Records of the Diocese of St. Augustine Archives: <a href="https://archives.dosafl.com/">https://archives.dosafl.com/</a>
Hawaii	Hawaii Mission Houses: <a href="https://hmha.missionhouses.org/">https://hmha.missionhouses.org/</a>
Minnesota	Sisters of St. Joseph of Carondelet and Consociates St. Paul Province Archives: <a href="https://www.csjstpaul.org/csj-st-paul-archives/">https://www.csjstpaul.org/csj-st-paul-archives/</a>
North Carolina	Moravian Archives Winston-Salem: <a href="https://moravianarchives.org/">https://moravianarchives.org/</a>
Wisconsin	Archdiocese of Milwaukee Archives: <a href="https://www.archmil.org/offices/archives.htm?">https://www.archmil.org/offices/archives.htm?</a>

## Books

Adams, D.W. 1995. Education for Extinction: American Indians and the Boarding School Experience, 1875-1928. University Press of Kansas.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Aiello, C. 1970. Oo-oónah Art by The Taos Pueblo Indian School's 7th-8th Grade Pupils of '67-'68. Published by Taos Pueblo Governor's Office.

Anderson, G.C. 2015. Ethnic Cleansing and the Indian: The Crime That Should Haunt America. University of Oklahoma Press.

Archuleta, M.L. 2000. Away from Home: American Indian Boarding School Experiences, 1879-2000. Heard Museum.

Bahr, D.M. 2014. The Students of Sherman Indian School: Education and Native Identity Since 1892. University of Oklahoma Press.

Banker, M.T. 1993. Presbyterian Missions and Cultural Interaction in the Far Southwest, 1850-1950. University of Illinois Press.

Beaver, P.R. 1966. Church, State and the American Indian: Two and a Half Centuries of Partnership in Missions between Protestant Churches and the Government. Concordia.

Benedict, J. 1922. Muskogee and Northeastern Oklahoma. S.J. Clarke Publishing Company.

Berkhofer, R. 2014. Salvation and the Savage: An Analysis of Protestant Missions and American Indian Response, 1787-1862. University Press of Kentucky.

Blair, E. 1915. The History of Johnson County Kansas. Standard Publishing Company.

Bloom, J. 2005. To Show What an Indian Can Do: Sports at Native American Boarding Schools. University of Minnesota Press.

Bolt, C. 1987. American Indian Policy and American Reform: Case Studies of the Campaign to Assimilate the American Indians. Allen & Unwin.

Boulter, G. and B. Grigot-Taylor. 2015. The Teacher and the Superintendent: Native Schooling in the Alaskan Interior, 1904-1918. AU Press, Athabasaca University.

Bowden, H.W. 1981. American Indians and Christian Missionaries: Studies in Culture Conflict. University of Chicago Press.

Bowes, J.P. 2007. Exiles and Pioneers: Eastern Indians in the Trans-Mississippi West. Cambridge University Press.

Bowes, J.P. 2016. Land too Good for Indians: Northern Indian Removal. University of Oklahoma Press.

Bradbury, C. and D. Hales. 2001. Alaska Sources: A Guide to Historical Records and Information Resources. Heritage Quest.

Brown, E.A. 2015. Stubborn Fool: A Narrative. Andesite Press.

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 1953 [1941]. The New Trail, a Book of Creative Writing by Indian Students. Printed at the Phoenix Indian School.

Cahill, C. D. 2013. Federal Fathers and Mothers: A Social History of the United States Indian Service, 1869-1933. University of North Carolina Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Calloway, C. 2010. *The Indian History of an American Institution: Native Americans and Dartmouth*. University Press of New England.

Cerney, J. 2005. *Lakota Sioux Missions, South Dakota*. Arcadia Publishing Library.

Chalcraft, E.L. 2007. *Assimilation's Agent: My Life as a Superintendent in the Indian Boarding School System*. University of Nebraska Press.

Child, B. 2000. *Boarding School Seasons: American Indian Families, 1900-1940*. University of Nebraska Press.

Churchill, W. 2004. *Kill the Indian, Save the Man: The Genocidal Impact of American Indian Residential Schools*. City of Lights Publisher.

Cobb, A.J. 2007. *Listening to Our Grandmothers' Stories: The Bloomfield Academy for Chickasaw Females, 1852-1949*. Bison Books.

Coleman, M.C. 2007. *American Indian Children at School, 1850-1930*. University Press of Mississippi.

Coleman, M.C. 2007. *Presbyterian Missionary Attitudes toward American Indians, 1837-1893*. University Press of Mississippi.

Cooper, M.L. 1999. *Indian School: Teaching the White Man's Way*. Clarion Books.

Crawford, J. 1993. *Hold Your Tongue: Bilingualism and the Politics of "English Only."* Addison-Wesley.

Cremin, L.A. 1990. *American Education: The National Experience, 1783-1876*. Harper Collins.

Crews, C.D. and R.W. Starbuck (eds.). 2010. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volumes 1 and 2*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Crews, C.D. and R.W. Starbuck (eds.). 2011. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 3*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Crews, C.D. and R.W. Starbuck (eds.). 2012. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 4*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Crews, C.D. and R.W. Starbuck (eds.). 2014. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 5*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Crews, C.D. and R.W. Starbuck (eds.). 2016. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 6*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Crosby, A. 2012. *America's Forgotten Pandemic: The Influenza of 1918*. Cambridge University Press.

Cuch, F.S. 2003. *A History of Utah's American Indians*. Utah Division of Indian Affairs/Utah Division of State History.

Dejong, D.H. 2008. *"If You Knew the Conditions": A Chronicle of the Indian Medical Service and American Indian Health Care, 1908-1955*. Lexington Books.

Delgadillo, A. and M. Perrett. 2013. *From Fort Marion to Fort Sill: A Documentary History of the Chiricahua Apache Prisoners of War, 1886-1913*. University of Nebraska Press.



The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express.

- Dippie, B. 1991. *The Vanishing American: White Attitudes and U.S. Indian Policy*. University of Kansas Press.
- Dunbar-Ortiz, R. 2015. *An Indigenous Peoples' History of the United States*. Beacon Press.
- Eagle, A.F. 2010. *Pipestone: My life in an Indian Boarding School*. University of Oklahoma Press.
- Eastman, C.A. 1991[1902]. *Indian Boyhood*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Ebersole, E.C., J.R. Caldwell and H.M. Rebok. 1899. *History of the Indian Rights Association of Iowa and the Founding of the Indian Training School, 1899*. Indian Training School.
- Ellis, C. 2008. *To Change Them Forever: Indian Education at the Rainy Mountain Boarding School, 1893-1920*. University of Oklahoma Press.
- Elson, R.M. 1972. *Guardians of Tradition: American Schoolbooks of the Nineteenth Century*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Emery, J. 2017. *Recovering Native American Writings in the Boarding School Press*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Fear-Segal, J. 2007. *White Man's Club: School, Race, and the Struggle of Indian Acculturation*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Fear-Segal, J. and S. Rose. 2016. *Carlisle Indian Industrial School: Indigenous Histories, Memories, and Reclamations*. University of Nebraska Press.
- French, L. and J. Hornbuckle. 1981. *The Cherokee Perspective: Written by Eastern Cherokees*. Appalachian State University.
- Garraghan, G.J. 1983. *Jesuits in the Middle United States (Three Volumes)*. Loyola University Press.
- Glancy, D. 2014. *Fort Marion Prisoners and the Trauma of Native Education*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Gram, J. 2016. *Education at the Edge of Empire: Negotiating Pueblo Identity in New Mexico's Indian Boarding Schools*. University of Washington Press.
- Hale, L. 2002. *Native American Education: A Reference Handbook*. ABC-Clio.
- Hauptman, L. 2006. *The Oneida Indians in the Age of Allotment, 1860-1920*. University of Oklahoma Press.
- Hilo Boarding School for Boys. 1911. *Hilo Boarding School for Boys: 1836-1911, Seventy-five Years of Progress, Located at Hilo, Hawaii*. Paradise of the Pacific Print.
- Holley, F.C. 1890. *Once Their Home Or, Our Legacy from the Dahkotahs; Historical, Biographical, and Incidental, from Far-off Days, Down to the Present*. Donahue and Hennebury.
- Hoover, H.T. and J.H. Cash. 1995. *To Be an Indian: An Oral History*. Minnesota Historical Society.
- Horsman, R. 1992. *Expansion and Indian Policy*. University of Oklahoma Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

- Hoxie, F. 2001. *Final Promise: The Campaign to Assimilate the Indians, 1880-1920*. Bison Books.
- Hoxie, F. 2013. *This Indian Country: American Indian Political Activists and the Place They Made*. Penguin Books.
- Hudson, R. 2007. *Family After All: Alaska's Jesse Lee Home (Volumes 1 and 2)*. Hardscratch Press.
- Huse, W. 2018 [1896]. *History of Dixon County, Nebraska*. Forgotten Books.
- Hyams, A.D. 2016. *Long Journeys to a Middle Ground: Indians, Catholics, and the Origins of a New Deal in Montana and Idaho, 1855-1945*. (PhD Dissertation). Marquette University.
- Hyer, S. 1990. *One House, One Voice, One Heart: Native American Education at the Santa Fe Indian School*. Museum of New Mexico Press.
- Jacobs, M. 2011. *White Mother to a Dark Race: Settler Colonialism, Maternalism, and the Removal of Indigenous Children in the American West and Australia, 1880-1940*. University of Nebraska Press.
- James, H.L. 1967. The history of Fort Wingate, *in: Defiance-Zuni-Mt. Taylor region, Arizona and New Mexico*, Trauger, Frederick D., New Mexico Geological Society, Guidebook, 18th Field Conference, pp. 151-158.
- Joinson, C. 2016. *Vanished in Hiawatha: The Story of the Canton Asylum for Insane Indians*. Bison Books.
- Katanski, A.V. 2007. *Learning to Write "Indian": The Boarding-school Experience and American Indian Literature*. University of Oklahoma Press.
- Keller, J.A. 2002. *Empty Beds: Student Health at Sherman Institute, 1902-1922*. Michigan State University Press.
- Kvasnicka, R.M. and H.J. Viola. 1979. *The Commissioners of Indian Affairs, 1824-1977*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Ladd, H. 1891. *The Story of New Mexico*. D. Lothrop Company.
- LaFlesche, F. 1978. *The Middle Five: Indian Schoolboys of the Omaha Tribe*. University of Nebraska Press.
- Lame Deer, J.F. and R. Erdoes. 1972. *Lame Deer Seeker of Visions*. Washington Square Press.
- Lawrence, A. 2011. *Lessons from an Indian Day School: Negotiating Colonization in Northern New Mexico, 1902-1907*. University Press of Kansas.
- Leap, W.L. 1993. *American Indian English*. University of Utah Press.
- Lewis, N. 2016. *Chasing the Cure in New Mexico, Tuberculosis and the Quest for Health*. Museum of New Mexico Press.
- Lindsey, D.F. 1994. *Indians at Hampton Institute, 1877-1923*. University of Illinois Press.
- Littlefield, A. and M. Knack. 2006. *Native Americans and Wage Labor: Ethnohistorical Perspectives*. University of Oklahoma Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Littlefield, H. 2001. *Children of the Indian Boarding Schools*. Carolrhoda Books.

Lomawaima, K.T. 1995. *They Called it Prairie Light: The Story of Chilocco Indian School*. University of Nebraska Press.

Lomawaima, K.T. 2006. *"To Remain an Indian": Lessons in Democracy from a Century of Native American Education*. Teachers College Press.

Lookingbill, B. 2006. *War Dance at Fort Marion: Plains Indian War Prisoners*. University of Nebraska Press.

Mauro, P. 2011. *The Art of Americanization at the Carlisle Indian School*. University of New Mexico Press.

McClinton, R. 2010. *The Moravian Springplace Mission to the Cherokees*. University of Nebraska Press.

McLachlan, J. 1970. *American Boarding Schools: A Historical Study*. Scribner.

Meyer, M. 1999. *The White Earth Tragedy: Ethnicity and Dispossession at a Minnesota Anishinaabe Reservation, 1889-1920*. Bison Books.

Mihesuah, D. 1998. *Cultivating the Rosebuds: The Education of Women at the Cherokee Female Seminary, 1851-1909*. University of Illinois Press.

Milk, T. 2010. *Haskell Institute: 19th Century Stories of Sacrifice and Survival*. Mammoth Publications.  
Neely, J. 2011. *The Border Between Them: Violence and Reconciliation on the Kansas-Missouri Line*. University of Missouri.

National Archives and Records Administration. 1998. *American Indians: A Select Catalog of National Archives Microfilm Publications*.

Ostler, J. 2004. *The Plains Sioux and US Colonialism from Lewis and Clark to Wounded Knee*. University of Cambridge Press.

Opler, M.E. 2002. *Apache Odyssey: A Journey Between Two Worlds*. Bison Books.

Oxendine, J. 1995. *American Indian Sports Heritage*. University of Nebraska Press.

Pasquier, M. (ed). 2013. *Gods of the Mississippi*. Indiana University Press.

Peavy, L. and U. Smith. 2008. *Full-Court Quest. The Girls from Fort Shaw Indian School, Basketball Champions of the World*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Peshkin, A. 1997. *Places of Memory, Whiteman's Schools and Native American Communities*. Routledge.

Pinson, E. 2004. *Alaska's Daughter: An Eskimo Memoir of the Early Twentieth Century*. Utah State University Press.

Pratt, R.H. 2004. *Battlefield and Classroom: Four Decades with the American Indian, 1867-1904*. University of Oklahoma Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Prucha, F.P. 1970. American Indian Policy in the Formative Years: The Indian Trade and Intercourse Acts of 1790-1834. University of Nebraska Press.

Prucha, F.P. 1976. American Indian Policy in Crisis: Christian Reformers and the Indian, 1865-1900. University of Oklahoma Press.

Prucha, F.P. 1979. The Churches and the Indian Schools, 1888-1912. University of Nebraska Press.

Prucha, F.P. 1997. American Indian Treaties: The History of a Political Anomaly. University of California Press.

Prucha, F.P. 1986. The Great Father: The United States Government and American Indians (Volumes 1 and 2). University of Nebraska Press.

Prucha, F.P. 1973. Americanizing the American Indians; writings by the "Friends of the Indian," 1880-1900. Harvard University Press.

Putney, D.T. 1980. Fighting the Scourge: American Indian Morbidity and Federal Policy, 1897-1928. (PhD Dissertation). Marquette University.

Qoyawayma, P. 1977. No Turning Back: A Hopi Woman's Struggle to Live in Two Worlds. University of New Mexico Press.

Regier, W.G. 2005. Masterpieces of American Indian Literature. Bison Books.

Reyhner, J.A. 2006. American Indian Education: A History. University of Oklahoma Press.

Riney, S. 2014. The Rapid City Indian School, 1898-1933. University of Oklahoma Press.

Robinson, W.H. 1953. The History of Hampton Institute 1868-1949. (PhD Dissertation). School of Education, New York University.

Ronda, J.P. 1978. Indian Missions: A Critical Bibliography. Indiana University Press.

Roessel, R.A. and B.H. Johnson. 1977. Stories of Traditional Navajo Life and Culture. Navajo Community College.

Rogers, W. 1996. The Papers of Will Rogers: The Early Years, November 1879--April 1904. Edited by A.F. Wertheim and B. Bair. University of Oklahoma Press.

Round, P.H. 2010. Removable Type: Histories of the Book in Indian Country, 1663-1880. University of North Carolina Press.

Rowland, D. 1907. Encyclopedia of Mississippi History (Volumes 1 and 2). Selwyn A. Brant.

Schmeckebier, L. F. 1927. The Office of Indian affairs: its history, activities and organization. The Johns Hopkins press.

Sheehan, B. 2011. Seeds of Extinction: Jeffersonian Philanthropy and the American Indian. University of North Carolina Press.

Smith, A. 2005. Conquest: Sexual Violence and American Indian Genocide. Duke University Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Sneve, V.D.H. 1998. *Completing the Circle*. University of Nebraska Press.

Snyder, C. 2017. *Great Crossings: Indians, Settlers, and Slaves in the Age of Jackson*. Oxford University Press.

Spicer, E. 1967. *Cycles of Conquest*. University of Arizona Press.

Spring, J. 1996. *The Cultural Transformation of a Native American Family and Its Tribe 1763-1995*. Routledge.

Starbuck, R.W. (ed.). 2018. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 7*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Starbuck, R.W. (ed.). 2019. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volumes 8 and 9*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Starbuck, R.W. (ed.). 2021. *Records of the Moravians Among the Cherokees: Volume 10*. Cherokee Heritage Press.

Stockel, H.H. 2000. *Chiricahua Apache Women and Children: Safekeepers of the Heritage*. Texas A&M University.

Szasz, M.C. 1999. *Education and the American Indian: The Road to Self-Determination Since 1928*. University of New Mexico Press.

Szasz, M.C. 2007. *Indian Education in the American Colonies, 1607-1783*. University of Nebraska Press.

Thomas, T. 2011. *Cry in the Wilderness: "Hear Ye the Voice of the Lord"*. Wipf and Stock.

Thornton, R. 1990. *American Indian Holocaust and Survival: A Population History Since 1492*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Trafzer, C.E. 2006. *Boarding School Blues: Revisiting American Indian Educational Experiences*. Bison Books.

Trafzer, C.E., M.S. Gilbert and L. S. Lorene. 2012. *The Indian School on Magnolia Avenue: Voices and Images from Sherman Institute*.

Trennert, R. 1988. *The Phoenix Indian School: Forced Assimilation in Arizona, 1891-1935*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Troutman, J. W. 2012. *Indian Blues: American Indians and the Politics of Music*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Udall, L. 1969. *Me and Mine: The Life Story of Helen Sekaquaptewa*. University of Arizona Press.

Underhill, R. 1953. *Here Come the Navajo!* Haskell Institute Print Shop.

Velarde Tiller, V. and M. Velarde. 2012. *The Jicarilla Apache of Dulce*. Arcadia Publishing.

Viola, H. J. and T.L. McKenney. 1981. *Architect of America's Early Indian Policy*. Ohio University Press.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Vučković, M. 2008. *Voices from Haskell: Indian Students Between Two Worlds, 1884-1928*. University Press of Kansas.

Yava, A. and H. Courlander. 1978. *Big Falling Snow: A Tewa-Hopi Indian's Life and Times and the History and Traditions of His People*. Outlet Press.

Young, R.K. 1997. *The Ute Indians of Colorado in the Twentieth Century*. University of Oklahoma Press.

Waggoner, J. 2013. *Witness: A Hunkpaha Historian's Strong-Heart Song of the Lakotas*. University of Nebraska Press.

Waite, F.C. 2021. *First Medical College in Vermont: Castleton, 1818-1862*. Hassel Street Press.

Warrior, R.A. 1994. *Tribal Secrets: Recovering American Indian Intellectual Traditions*. University of Minnesota Press.

Welsh, H. 2014. *The Apache Prisoners in Fort Marion, St. Augustine, Florida*. Nabu Press.

Whitewolf, J. 1991. *The Life of a Kiowa Apache Indian*. Edited by Charles S. Brant. Dover Publications.

Wilson, D.C. 1974. *Bright Eyes: The Story of Susette La Flesche, an Omaha Indian*. McGraw-Hill.

Wolferman, K.C. 2008. *The Indomitable Mary Easton Sibley: Pioneer of Women's Education in Missouri*. University of Missouri.

Womack, C.S. 1999. *Red on Red: Native American Literary Separatism*. University of Minnesota Press.

Woolford, A. 2014. *The Benevolent Experiment: Indigenous Boarding Schools, Genocide, and Regress in Canada and the United States*. University of Nebraska Press.

## Journal Articles and Theses Papers

Abbott, D. 1987. "Commendable Progress": Acculturation at the Cherokee Female Seminary. *American Indian Quarterly*, 11(3): 187-201.

Adams, D. W. 1977. Education in Hues: Red and black at Hampton Institute, 1878-1893. *The South Atlantic Quarterly* 76(2):159-176.

Adams, D.W. 1979. Schooling the Hopi: Federal Indian Policy Writ Small, 1887-1917. *Pacific Historical Review* 48(3): 335-356.

Ahern, W.H., 1976. Assimilationist Racism: The Case of the 'Friends of the Indian'. *The Journal of Ethnic Studies*, 4(2): 23.

Ahern, W.H. 1984. Indian Education and Bureaucracy: The School at Morris 1887-1909. *Minnesota History: Fall*: 82-98.

Ahern, W. H. 1997. An Experiment Aborted: Returned Indian Students in the Indian School Service, 1881-1908. *Ethnohistory*, 44(2): 263-304.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Andrews, T. G. 2002. Turning the Tables on Assimilation: Oglala Lakotas and the Pine Ridge Day Schools, 1889-1920s. *The Western Historical Quarterly*, 33(4): 407–430.

Bhatara, V.S., S. Gupta and M. Brokenleg. 1999. The Hiawatha Asylum for insane Indians: The First Federal Mental Hospital for an Ethnic Group. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(5):767.

Beaulieu, D. 1971. The Formal Education of Minnesota Indians: Historical Perspective Until 1934. Training Center for Community Programs and the Office of Community Programs Center for Urban and Regional Affairs, University of Minnesota. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED050873.pdf>

Bradley, C.C. 1982. The Effect of Abundant Resources on the History of Crow Reservation Schools. (PhD Dissertation). Department of Education, Montana State University. <https://scholarworks.montana.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1/3621/31762001062981.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y>

Buffalohead, W. R., & Molin, P. F. 1996. “A Nucleus of Civilization”: American Indian Families at Hampton Institute in the Late Nineteenth Century. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 35(3): 59–94.

Canevali, R.C. 1977. Hilo Boarding School: Hawaii's Experiment in Vocational Education. *Hawaiian Journal of History*, volume 11: 77-96. <https://evols.library.manoa.hawaii.edu/server/api/core/bitstreams/50f35298-18fc-41cd-8159-3e1b88329cc2/content>

Collier, J. 1988. Survival at Rough Rock: A Historical Overview of Rough Rock Demonstration School.” *Anthropology & Education Quarterly* 19(3): 253–69.

Cushing-Davis, M. A Fire That Could Not Be Extinguished: Sovereignty and Identity in the Pokagon Band of Potawatomi Indians, 1634-1994. (PhD Dissertation). Departments of American History and Public History, Loyola University. [https://ecommons.luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3277&context=luc\\_diss](https://ecommons.luc.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3277&context=luc_diss)

Dejong, D.H. 2007. “Unless They Are Kept Alive”: Federal Indian Schools and Student Health, 1878-1918. *American Indian Quarterly*, 31(2), 256–282.

Ellis, C. 1994. "A Remedy for Barbarism": Indian Schools, the Civilizing Program, and the Kiowa-Comanche-Apache Reservation, 1871-1915. *American Indian Culture and Research Journal*, 18(3): 85-120.

Ellis, C. 1996. Boarding School Life at the Kiowa-Comanche Agency, 1893-1920. *The Historian*, 58(4): 777–793.

Fear-Segal, J. 1999. Nineteenth-Century Indian Education: Universalism versus Evolutionism. *Journal of American Studies*, 33(2): 323–341.

Fisher, W.D. 1942. The History of St. Mary's Training School At Des Plaines, Illinois (1882-1942). (Master's Thesis). Loyola University. [https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc\\_theses/172](https://ecommons.luc.edu/luc_theses/172)

Fischbacher. T. 1967. A Study of the Role of the Federal Government in the Education of the American Indian (PhD Dissertation). Arizona State University.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Galler, R. W. 2000. Environment, Cultures, and Social Change on the Great Plains: A History of Crow Creek Tribal School. (PhD Dissertation). Department of History, Western Michigan University. <https://scholarworks.wmich.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=4378&context=dissertations>

Gere, A. R. 2005. Indian Heart/White Man's Head: Native-American Teachers in Indian Schools, 1880-1930. *History of Education Quarterly*, 45(1), 38–65.

Gilcreast, E.A. 1967. Richard Henry Pratt and American Indian policy, 1877-1906; a study of the assimilation movement. (PhD Dissertation). Yale University.

Gordon, M.O. 1936. A History of the Hilo Boarding School. (Master's Thesis). University of Hawaii.

Hayes, A. L. 1999. One Congregation, Two Cultures: St. Mark's Episcopal Church Nenana, Alaska. *Anglican and Episcopal History*, 68(1), 141–146.

Hegy, S.J. 2016. The Mt. Pleasant Indian Industrial Boarding School: An Analysis of Student Life Through Archaeology, Oral History and Archival Data. (Master's Thesis). Department of History, Central Michigan University.

Hickmon, F.L. 2017. The Creation of Choctaw Central High School and its Transition to a Bureau of Indian Affairs Contract School: An Oral History. (PhD Dissertation). Department of Leadership and Counselor Education the University of Mississippi. <https://egrove.olemiss.edu/etd/498>

Hirshberg, D. 2008. "It Was Bad or It Was Good:" Alaska Natives in Past Boarding Schools. *Journal of American Indian Education* 47(3): 5-30.

Hopkins, D. 1951. A Brief History of Indian Education on the Tongue River Reservation. (Master's Thesis). Department of Education, Montana State University. <https://scholarworks.umt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2727&context=etd>

Johnson, K. A. 2018. Problem Solver or "Evil Genius": Thomas Jesse Jones and *The Problem of Indian Administration*. *Native American and Indigenous Studies* 5(2): 37–69.

Kalesnik, F.L. 2001. Caged Tigers: Native American Prisoners in Florida, 1875-1888. *The Journal of America's Military Past*, Vol. XXVIII, No. 1, Spring/Summer.

Kelly, G.L. 1954. History of St. Ignatius Mission, Montana. (Master's Thesis). Montana State University. <https://scholarworks.umt.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=3587&context=etd>

Kerber, L. K. 1975. The Abolitionist Perception of the Indian. *The Journal of American History*, 62(2): 271–295.

Kleinfeld, J. 1972. Alaska's Urban Boarding Home Program: Interpersonal Relationships Between Indian and Eskimo Secondary Students and Their Boarding Home Parents. Center for Northern Educational Research and the Institute for Social, Economic, and Governmental Research, University of Alaska. ISEGR Report No. 32. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED067195.pdf>

Kleinfeld, J. 1973. A Long Way from Home: Effects of Public Schools on Village Children Away from Home. Center for Northern Educational Research and the Institute for Social, Economic, and Governmental Research, University of Alaska. ISEGR Report No. 38. <https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED087581.pdf>



The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Laurence, R. 1977. Indian Education: Federal Compulsory School Attendance Law Applicable to American Indians: The Treaty-Making Period: 1857-1891. *American Indian Law Review* 5(2): 187-201.

Leahy, T.E. 1998. The Canton Asylum: Indians, psychiatrists, and government policy, 1899–1934. (PhD Dissertation). Oklahoma State University.

Littlefield, D.F. and L.E. Underhill. 1971. Renaming the American Indian: 1890-1913. *American Studies* 12(2): 33–45.

Lomawaima, K.T. 1987. Oral Histories from Chilocco Indian Agricultural School 1920-1940. *American Indian Quarterly*, 11(3): 241–254.

Lomawaima, K. T. 1993. Domesticity in the Federal Indian Schools: The Power of Authority over Mind and Body. *American Ethnologist*, 20(2), 227–240.

Lomawaima, K.T., and T.T. Lomawaima. 1996. Estelle Reel, Superintendent of Indian Schools, 1898-1910: Politics, Curriculum, and Land. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 35(3): 5–31.

Lomawaima, K.T. 2018. Indian Boarding Schools, Before and After: A Personal Introduction. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 57(1): 11–21.

Lomawaima, K.T. and J. Ostler. 2018. Reconsidering Richard Henry Pratt: Cultural Genocide and Native Liberation in an Era of Racial Oppression. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 57(1), 79–100.

Lubman, H. 1962. A history of the Nebraska Winnebago Indians with Special Emphasis on Education. (Master's Thesis). Department of History, University of Omaha.

<https://digitalcommons.unomaha.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1512&context=studentwork>

Margolis, E. and J. Rowe, J. 2004. Images of Assimilation: Photographs of Indian schools in Arizona. *History of Education*, 33(2): 199-230.

McBeth, S.J. 1983. Indian Boarding Schools and Ethnic Identity: An Example from the Southern Plains Tribes of Oklahoma. *Plains Anthropologist*, 28(100): 119–128.

McBeth, S.J. 1983. Ethnic Identity and the Boarding School Experience of West-Central Oklahoma American Indians. University Press of America.

McBride, P. 2013. A blueprint for death in U.S. off-reservation boarding schools: Rethinking institutional mortalities at Carlisle Indian Industrial School, 1879–1918. (Master's Thesis). Dartmouth College.

McDonald, B.W. and Cumberland Presbyterian Church. 2015. History of the Cumberland Presbyterian Church. Palala Press.

McKinney, L. G. 1945. History of the Albuquerque Indian School. *New Mexico Historical Review* 20, 2 (1945). <https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/nmhr/vol20/iss2/2>

McNeil, T.B. 1988. St. Anthony's Indian School in San Diego, 1886-1907. *Journal of San Diego History* 34(3).

Meisel, J.J. 2014. Historical Demographics, Student Origins, and Recruitment at Off-Reservation Indian Boarding Schools, 1900. (Master's Thesis). Geography Department, University of Kansas.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Miner, H.C. 1981. The Indian Office: Growth and Development of an American Institution, 1865–1900, *Western Historical Quarterly* 12(2):190–191.

Molin, P. F. 1988. Training the Hand the Head, and the Heart: Indian Education at Hampton Institute. *Minnesota History: Fall*: 82-98.

Mook, K. 2020. The Greenville Investigation: Missing and Murdered Indigenous Women and Boarding School Runaways. (Master's Thesis). Interdisciplinary Studies, California State University, San Bernardino. <https://scholarworks.lib.csusb.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=2100&context=etd>

Moore, E. W. 1986. The Bierkempers, Navajos, and the Ganado Presbyterian Mission, 1901-1912. *American Presbyterians*, 64(2): 125–135.

Norwood, P. V. 1943. Jubilee College, Illinois. *Historical Magazine of the Protestant Episcopal Church*, 12(1), 44–58.

Paige, A.L. 2010. Chickasaw Removal. Chickasaw Press.

Peterson, D. 2015. Conflict, Tension, Strength: The History of St. Pauls Mission, St. Labre Indian School, And St. Stephens Indian School, 1884—Present. (PhD Dissertation). Department of History, University of New Mexico.

Powell, P. 1998. Formal Education Among the Siberian Yupik Eskimos on Sivuqaq, Saint Lawrence Island, Alaska: An Ethnohistorical Study. (PhD Dissertation). University of Texas. [https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc278793/m2/1/high\\_res\\_d/1002658855-powell.pdf](https://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc278793/m2/1/high_res_d/1002658855-powell.pdf)

Reyhner, J. 2018. American Indian Boarding Schools: What Went Wrong? What Is Going Right? *Journal of American Indian Education*, 57(1): 58–78.

Sánchez, J.P., J.L. Gurulé , L.V. Larrichio and L.D. Miller. 2006. Fort Union National Monument Ethnographic Overview and Assessment. National Park Service. <https://www.nps.gov/foun/learn/historyculture/upload/FOUN-Ethnographic-Overview-0106.pdf>

Scott, D.D., T.D. Thiessen, J.J. Richner and S. Stadler. 2006. An Archaeological Inventory and Overview of Pipestone National Monument, Minnesota. Midwest Archeological Center Occasional Studies in Anthropology No. 34. National Park Service.

Scott, K. 2011. Child Artisans of the Northern Plains: Woodcarving at Fort Shaw Indian School, 1982-1910 (Master's Thesis). Native American Studies Department, Montana State University.

Southwick, S.J. 1996. Educating the Mind, Enlightening the Soul: Mission Schools as a Means of Transforming the Navajos, 1898–1928. *The Journal of Arizona History*, 37(1): 47–66.

Stein, P. 2002. School Days at Truxton County. Report prepared for the Truxton County Agency of the Bureau of Indian Affairs. Arizona Preservation Consultants. Flagstaff, AZ. <https://archive.library.nau.edu/digital/collection/cpa/id/57453>

Steineker, R.F. 2017. Beyond Boarding Schools: Histories of Native American Institutions and Social Services in the United States. *Reviews in American History* 45(3), 410-415.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

Stewart, I. 1981. A Voice in Her Tribe: A Navajo Woman's Story. Ballena Press Anthropological Papers No. 17.

Stuart, P. 1985. Administrative Reform in Indian Affairs. *The Western Historical Quarterly*, 16(2): 133–146.

Talayesva, D.C. 2013. Sun Chief: The Autobiography of a Hopi Indian. Yale University Press.

Thompson, B. 2013. The Student Body: A History of the Stewart Indian School, 1890-1940. (PhD Dissertation). Arizona State University.

Tonnies, C. 2016. Away for the Homeland: Why Students Fought to Keep Intermountain Indian School Open. (Master's Thesis). Department of History, University of Utah.

<https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/77525305.pdf>

Trennert, R.A. 1982. Educating Indian Girls at Nonreservation Boarding Schools, 1878-1920. *The Western Historical Quarterly*, 13(3): 271–290.

Trennert, R.A. 1983. From Carlisle to Phoenix: The Rise and Fall of the Indian Outing System, 1878-1930. *Pacific Historical Review*, 52(3): 267–291.

Trennert, R.A. 1987. Selling Indian Education at World's Fairs and Expositions, 1893-1904. *American Indian Quarterly*, 11(3): 203–220.

Two Bears, D. R. 2019. Shimásání dóó shicheii bi'ólta' - My Grandmother's and Grandfather's School: The Old Leupp Boarding School, a Historic Archaeological Site on The Navajo Reservation. (PhD Dissertation). Department of Anthropology, Loyola University.

Roberts, C. 1987. The Cushman Indian Trades School and World War I. *American Indian Quarterly*, 11(3): 221–239.

Rooney, M.P. 2021. The Charity Hall Mission: An 1820s Boarding School for Native American Children in the Chickasaw Nation. (PhD Dissertation). University of Florida.

[https://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/UF/E0/05/73/69/00001/Rooney\\_M.pdf](https://ufdcimages.uflib.ufl.edu/UF/E0/05/73/69/00001/Rooney_M.pdf)

Still Smoking, D.M. 1997. Tribal Education: A Case Study of Blackfeet Elders. (Doctoral Dissertation). Department of Education, Montana State University.

<https://scholarworks.montana.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1/7906/31762103144364.pdf;sequence=1>

Wall, C.L. 1952. History of Indian Education in Nevada from 1861 to 1951 (PhD dissertation). University of Nevada.

Werner, R. E. 1966. An Oral English Experiment with Navaho Children. *Elementary English*, 43(7), 777–784.

White, L. 2018. Who Gets to Tell the Stories? Carlisle Indian School: Imagining a Place of Memory Through Descendant Voices. *Journal of American Indian Education*, 57(1): 122–144.

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

## Newspapers, Magazines, and Newsletters

### Carlisle publications:

The Arrow: August 25, 1904 – June 19, 1908. Published weekly:

<https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/publications-titles/arrow-1904-08?page=1>

The Carlisle Arrow: September 1908 – 1917. Published weekly.

<https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/publications-titles/carlisle-arrow-1908-17>

Name changed to The Carlisle Arrow and Red Man in 1917-1918:

<https://carlisleindian.dickinson.edu/publications-titles/carlisle-arrow-and-red-man-1917-18>

Chilocco Farmer and Stock Grower: Mar 1902-Apr. 1904.

Chilocco Indian School. The Indian School Journal:

<https://catalog.archives.gov/search?page=1&q=%22the%20indian%20school%20journal%22>

Indians at Work (1933-1945): <https://library.si.edu/digital-library/book/indians-work>

Indian Education (1937-1965)

Navajo Education Newsletter (1971-1977)

Navajo Yearbook (1957-1961): <https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/000534322>

The Chemewa American (1914-1915):

[https://oregonnews.uoregon.edu/lccn/ca15001324/issues/first\\_pages/](https://oregonnews.uoregon.edu/lccn/ca15001324/issues/first_pages/)

The Indian News: Genoa, Nebraska, Genoa Industrial School, 1930-1933:

[https://genoaindianschool.org/digital-heritage?search\\_api\\_views\\_fulltext=the+indian+news](https://genoaindianschool.org/digital-heritage?search_api_views_fulltext=the+indian+news)

The Indian School Journal (1883-1947):

<https://catalog.archives.gov/search?page=1&q=%22the%20indian%20school%20journal%22>

The Oglala Light (1900-1920): <https://chroniclingamerica.loc.gov/lccn/2017270500/issues/>

## Organizations

California Truth & Healing Council: <https://tribalaffairs.ca.gov/cthc/>

Carlisle Indian School Project: <https://carlisleindianschoolproject.com/>

Genoa Indian School Digital Reconciliation Project: <https://genoaindianschool.org/about-project>

Indian Residential School History and Dialogue Centre, University of British Columbia:

<https://collections.irshdc.ubc.ca/index.php>

Indian Residential School Survival Society (Canada): <https://www.irsss.ca/about-us>

National Centre for Truth and Reconciliation, University of Manitoba: <https://nctr.ca/about/>

The National Native American Boarding School Healing Coalition: <https://boardingschoolhealing.org/>

The content of this document may be disturbing or distressing. This version of this document is being made available to the public for informational purposes only. The information in it is subject to change or revision. While DOI strives to make the information in this version of this document as accurate as possible, DOI makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of its contents. DOI gives no warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, with respect to its contents. DOI expressly disclaims liability for errors or omissions in the content of this version of this document or for any use of, or reliance on, its content by any person.

The links to third party sources of information are included for reference purposes only. DOI does not control--and makes no claims, assurances, or guarantees about--the accuracy, completeness, or adequacy of third-party sources of information referenced in this version of this document. DOI does not endorse any such third-party sources of information, products or services, or the views they express. Links last visited December 11, 2023.

The Native American Rights Fund: <https://narf.org/cases/boarding-school-healing/>

Red Cloud Indian School Truth and Healing Initiative: <https://www.redcloudschool.org/pages/truth-and-healing?erid=7430970&trid=0dcb1409-2ee2-4580-bb82-37a03af12da8>

Remembering the Children Project, BHACF/MOA Children's Memorial:  
<https://www.rememberingthechildren.org/>